A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument

by urging the jury to convict based on guilt by association, appealing to the

jury's passion or prejudice, minimizing the burden of proof beyond a

reasonable doubt, and disparaging the role of defense counsel.

2. Appellant's attorney was constitutionally ineffective in

failing to object to repeated misconduct.

3. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to a

public trial by hearing challenges to potential jurors in a proceeding closed

from public view.

4. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to be

present at all critical stages of trial.

Issues Pertainin)to Assignments of Error

1. The prosecutor used a PowerPoint presentation showing

photographs of appellant juxtaposed with two men seen at the burglary

and the caption `b̀irds of a feather flock together." The prosecutor argued

jurors should use their common sense and determine what they would

think if they heard this story in a coffee shop. The prosecutor argued

defense counsel was merely putting up roadblocks to reality. Did the

prosecutor commit flagrant and ill- intentioned misconduct by arguing guilt
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by association, diminishing the burden of proof beyond a reasonable

doubt, and disparaging the role of defense counsel?

2. The constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel is

violated when the attorney performs deficiently and there is a reasonable

probability the error affected the outcome of the trial. Was appellant's

attorney ineffective in failing to object to repeated instances of

prosecutorial misconduct that was likely to affect the jury's assessment of

the circumstantial evidence in this case?

3. During jury selection, the parties apparently exercised all

challenges, both peremptory and for cause, during a private sidebar

proceeding at the clerk's desk. Because the trial court did not analyze the

Bone -Club factors before conducting this important portion of jury

selection privately, did the court violate appellant's constitutional right to

a public trial?

4. Did appellant's absence from exercise of challenges to

potential jurors violate his constitutional right to be present at all critical

stages of trial?

State v. Bone -Club 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).
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B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The Thurston County prosecutor charged appellant Jason Fitzgerald

with second - degree burglary, attempted residential burglary, and second -

degree theft. CP 17 -18. The prosecutor also alleged the attempted

residential burglary was committed with the victim present in the home and

Fitzgerald's high offender score and multiple current offenses resulted in

some offenses going unpunished. CP 17.

After general voir dire in open court, the trial judge called the

attorneys forward to select the jury in a sidebar. Supp. RP at 70 -71.

Exercise of challenges for cause and peremptory challenges apparently

occurred during this sidebar. Aside from a mention of the number of

challenges by each party in the minutes, the proceedings at this sidebar were

not made part of the record.

The jury found Fitzgerald guilty on all charges and answered yes to a

special verdict about whether the victim was present during the attempted

residential burglary. CP 33 -37. The court found some current offenses

would otherwise go unpunished and imposed exceptional consecutive

sentences for the attempted residential burglary and second - degree theft for a

total of 89 months. CP 54, 61. A standard range sentence for second - degree
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burglary is to run concurrently. CP 54, 61. Notice of appeal was timely

filed. CP 38.

2. Substantive Facts

Fitzgerald was found in a car with two men seen at a burglary in

rural Thurston County. 2RP 51 -52. In.closing argument, the State argued,

birds of a feather flock together." 2RP 304. The prosecutor displayed

photographs of Fitzgerald juxtaposed with photographs of the other two

men, all apparently in handcuffs at the time of their arrest. CP 67, 101.

Beneath the photographs was the phrase, "Birds of a feather flock together."

Id.

Evidence that Fitzgerald' was involved in the incident was

circumstantial. Levi Thompson was awakened one morning by his

girlfriend's six - year -old son, who ran into the bedroom yelling, "We're

being robbered!" 2RP 110. Thompson ran to the window and saw one man

tying down a tarp covering Thompson's generator in the bed of a pickup

truck Thompson had never seen before. 2RP 110 -11. He saw a second man

running from the back of the house where the child's bedroom was located.

2RP 111, 114. The truck sped away as Thompson pursued on foot as far as

2 There are five volumes of Verbatim Report of Proceedings referenced as follows: 1 RP —
Sept. 13, 2012; 2RP — Sept. 19 -20, 2012 (two volumes consecutively paginated); 3RP —
Sept. 25, 2012; Supp. RP — Sept. 19 -20, 2012 (voir dire and opening statements).
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the end of the driveway. 2RP 115. Thompson returned to the house to call

911. 2RP 117.

Thurston County sheriffs responded to the home and also to nearby

roads in hopes of finding the truck Thompson described. 2RP 34 -40, 173-

74, 184 -85. At least 15 minutes later and roughly four miles away, Deputies

stopped a truck matching Thompson's description. 2RP 34 -35, 187. Inside

were Ty Martin, Michael Cairns, and Fitzgerald. 2RP 51 -53.

Thompson identified Martin and Cairns as the two men he saw at his

home. 2RP 51 -52, 128 -30. He testified he did not see Fitzgerald at his

home. 2RP 129. However, he was acquainted with Fitzgerald, a friend of

Thompson's cousin. 2RP 107 -08. Thompson testified his cousin had been

at his home a couple of days earlier asking odd questions about what time he

left for work and what he kept in his garage. 2RP 108 -09. Thompson

testified he never invited any of the three men to his house or gave them

permission to take any of his property. 2RP 130.

The evidence was disputed as to who was driving the truck when the

deputies stopped it. Deputy Cole testified Fitzgerald got out of the driver's

side door when he ordered the driver out of the truck. 2RP 191 -94.

However, the other two occupants also subsequently exited via the same

door. 2RP 194 -96. Cole claimed he could see that the first person to get out

had been behind the wheel and someone else was in the rear part of the cab
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behind the driver's seat. 2RP 196. He admitted he could have been

mistaken because the truck's windows were tinted very dark. 2RP 215. The

booking forms describing property found on the men conflicted with Cole's

report. Cole had described Fitzgerald as having a walled with identification

and a pocketknife. 2RP 210. Yet the property reports list no property found

on Fitzgerald, but identification for Martin and a pocketknife found on

Cairns. 2RP 211 -13. Deputy Holden testified he assumed Martin was the

driver because it was Martin who was placed in the first available patrol car,

but he conceded he had no independent memory of seeing who was in the

driver's seat. 2RP 239 -40.

The truck contained numerous items Thompson testified belonged to

him. 2RP 131 -43. His estimate of the values of the stolen property

amounted to between $2575 and $2,640. 2RP 131 -142

Thompson testified his girlfriend's six - year -old son was traumatized

by the event. 2RP 118. He testified the child was "really scared" and the

incident has had a lasting impact on him. 2RP 118. He testified the child no

longer wants to go to bed. 2RP 118. The family moved the bed away from

the window and let the dog sleep under his bed, but he is still often too

scared to sleep in his own bed. 2RP 118. Thompson testified this was a

significant change because the child had previously gone to bed readily

every night at 9:30. 2RP 118. No objection was made to this evidence.
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However, when the prosecutor attempted to elicit similar testimony

from Thompson's girlfriend regarding her trauma, the court sustained the

objection and ruled the evidence irrelevant. 2RP 169. At sentencing, the

court specifically stated that trauma was irrelevant to the aggravating factor

that the victims of the burglary were present at the time). 3RP 31 -32. But

at trial, the jury was not instructed it could not consider the trauma to the

child, and the prosecutor specifically argued the child "has been traumatized

by these events." 2RP 317.

The jury was instructed regarding accomplice liability. CP 26. The

State's theory was that, whether or not he was the driver, Fitzgerald's

presence in the truck was circumstantial evidence he must also have been

ready to assist at the burglary. 2RP 316. The State argued Fitzgerald was

the only connection between the two identified burglars and Levi Thompson.

2RP 319. The theme was "birds of a feather flock together." 2RP 304. The

prosecutor began his closing argument by telling the jury, "I want you to

have that kind of mind set about these three individuals." 2RP 304.

The prosecutor also hewed to the theme that the jury should use

common sense. 2RP 310, 322, 341 -42. He first explained the circumstantial

evidence instruction means jurors can apply common sense. 2RP 310. He

compared the jurors' decision to what they would think if someone told them

this story in their daily lives. 3RP 322. In rebuttal, he described the jury's
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role in terms of "circumstantial evidence and the reasonable inferences you

can draw from it." 2RP 344; CP 98. He asked the jury what they would

think if they heard this story in a coffee shop. 2RP 322, 347.

The prosecutor urged the jury to look at the big picture, and

described defense counsel's closing argument as merely putting up

roadblocks," "because they don't want you to see what is there. 2RP 341;

CP 96. They don't want you to see what you can see when you use your

common sense." 2RP 341 -42. He argued defense counsel wanted the jury to

suspend reality." 2RP 347 -48.

C. ARGUMENT

1. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT VIOLATED

FITZGERALD' S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer with an independent duty to

ensure a fair trial. State v. Fisher 165 Wn.2d 727, 746, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

Misconduct by a prosecutor can deprive a defendant of his constitutionally

guaranteed right to a fair trial. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann 175 Wn.2d

696, 703 -04, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Even when there is no objection at the

time, prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal when it is so flagrant and ill

intentioned that the resulting prejudice could not have been cured by

instructing the jury. Id.



Without an eyewitness placing him at the scene, the State was forced

to rely on circumstantial evidence to prove Fitzgerald's involvement in the

charged crimes. The jury was properly instructed that circumstantial

evidence is not necessarily any less valuable than direct evidence. CP 24.

But apparently not trusting either that instruction or the strength of its

evidence, the prosecutor felt the need to ratchet down the burden of proof

and lay a thumb on the scales ofjustice.

First, the prosecutor committed misconduct by encouraging the jury

to rely on the intuitive appeal of guilt by association with known burglars

and using evidence that was not admitted. Second, he committed

misconduct by urging a verdict based on the emotional appeal of a

traumatized child. Third, the prosecutor committed misconduct by trying to

reduce the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt to the common sense

one would apply during a casual conversation at a coffee shop. Finally, the

prosecutor committed misconduct by characterizing defense counsel's

arguments on reasons to doubt as attempts to hide the truth. Alone or

cumulatively, these incidents rendered Fitzgerald's trial unfair.

a. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct by Urging a
Verdict Based on Guilt by Association and

Unadmitted Evidence.

Prosecutors must not urge guilty verdicts on improper grounds. State

v. Belgarde 110 Wn.2d 504, 507 -508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). A prosecutor's
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latitude in closing argument is limited to arguments ` "based on probative

evidence and sound reason. "' Glasmann 175 Wn.2d at 704 (quoting State v.

Casteneda- Perez 61 Wn. App. 354, 363, 810 P.2d 74 (1991)). The intuitive

notion of guilt by association does not meet this standard.

Courts around the country have condemned prosecutorial argument

based on the proverb that "birds of a feather flock together." See, e.g.

United States v. Smith 806 F.2d 971, 975 (10th Cir. 1986) (arguments and

comments to the jury that "birds of a feather flock together," were plain error

adversely affecting the right to a fair trial); United States v. Sturgis 578 F.2d

1296, 1299 (9th Cir. 1978) ( "strongly condemning" prosecutor's argument

that "birds of a feather flock together "); People v. Ong 94 I11. App. 3d 780,

790, 419 N.E.2d 97 (1981) (prosecutorial argument that "birds of a feather

flock together" compounded jury confusion related to accomplice liability);

State v. Harrington 27 Ariz. App. 663, 667, 558 P.2d 28, 32 ( 1976)

argument that birds of a feather flock together "transcended the boundaries

ofpermissible argument ").

The "birds of a feather" slide also was misconduct because it

presented to the jury evidence that was not admitted. In Glasmann the

prosecutor used a PowerPoint presentation to illustrate his closing argument

with booking photographs altered by the addition of phrases "calculated to

influence the jury's assessment of Glasmann's guilt." 175 Wn.2d at 705.

10-



Although the booking photograph was admitted, the court held,

modification of photographs by adding captions was the equivalent of

unadmitted evidence." Id. at 706. "[A] prosecutor must be held to know

that it is improper to present evidence that has been deliberately altered in

order to influence the jury's deliberations." Id. Noting that "highly

prejudicial images may sway a jury in ways that words cannot," the court

concluded the use of the slide show in Glasmann was flagrant, ill-

intentioned, and could not have been cured by instruction." Id. at 707.

Here, the photographs were also admitted but altered. CP 67, 101;

Exs. 31 -37. The slide juxtaposes the photographs of Fitzgerald, Cairns, and

Martin, all with their hands behind their backs apparently in handcuffs, and

adds a caption reading, "birds of a feather flock together." CP 67, 101. As

in Glasmann these alterations created a powerful visual that was never

admitted into evidence. This slide, which began and ended the prosecutor's

closing argument, was calculated to urge the jury to think that because

Martin and Cairns were guilty, Fitzgerald must be guilty as well. The

prosecutor painted Fitzgerald with the same brush as the others in hopes the

jury would overlook the fact that no one saw him at the scene and the other

reasons to doubt his involvement. This was flagrant misconduct under

Glasmann. 175 Wn.2d at 704 -06.

11-



b. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct by Urging a
Verdict Based on the Impact on a Traumatized Child
Victim.

The prosecutor should not use arguments calculated to inflame the

passions or prejudices of the jury." Id. at 704 (quoting American Bar

Association, Standards for Criminal Justice std. 3- 5.8(c) (2d ed. 1980)).

Additionally, every trial advocate has a duty not to intentionally introduce

prejudicial inadmissible evidence. State v. Montgomery 163 Wn.2d 577,

593, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). "A trial in which irrelevant and inflammatory

matter is introduced, which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury

against the accused, is not a fair trial." State v. Miles 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436

P.2d 198 ( 1968). Victim impact testimony is improper because it is

irrelevant to any question properly before the jury and instead encourages the

jury to render a verdict based on emotion or sympathy. ER 401, 402, 403;

City of Auburn v. Hedlund 165 Wn. 2d 645, 654, 201 P.3d 315, 319 (2009).

Evidence that this crime resulted in lasting trauma to a six - year -old

child was irrelevant to any material issue in this case. The fact that he was

later too frightened to sleep alone could only have been calculated to arouse

the jury's sympathy for the family and outrage at Fitzgerald. Although

initially no objection was made, well before closing argument, the trial court

made clear the impact on the child was irrelevant. 2RP 169, 226.

Nevertheless, the prosecutor continued to rely on it in closing argument and

12-



in the accompanying slide presentation, which read, "Jacob has been

traumatized by these events of seeing a stranger trying to come into his room

as he slept in bed. It still is affecting him and changed the way he previously

lived." RP 317; CP 87.

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the

existence of any fact that is of consequence ... more probable or less

probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Even relevant

evidence may be excluded when the danger of unfair prejudice substantially

outweighs any minimal probative value. ER 403; Fisher 165 Wn.2d at 745.

Evidence causes unfair prejudice when it is "`more likely to arouse an

emotional response than a rational decision by the jury. "' Hedlund 165 Wn.

2d at 654 (2009) (quoting State v. Cronin 142 Wn.2d 568, 584, 14 P.3d 752

2000)). Evidence that is only relevant to the impact of the offense on the

victim or others has no place in the guilt phase of a criminal trial.

Here, the prosecutor attempted to argue the impact on the child was

relevant because the State charged the aggravating factor that the victims of

the burglary were present in the home at the time. 2RP 226. But the court

clearly pointed out that the only fact relevant to this aggravator is presence.

RP 226; RCW9.94A.535(3)(u); see also State v. Smith 123 Wn.2d 51, 56-

57, 864 P.2d 1371 ( 1993) (mere presence of burglary victim is proper

aggravating factor because of increased risk of injury), overruled on other
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grounds by State v. Hughes 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005); 11A

Washington Practice: Pattern Jury Instructions, Criminal WPIC 300.30, cmt

3d Ed. 2008) (2005 statute designed to codify existing common law

aggravator). No particular impact on the victim is required. The fact that the

child was later too frightened to sleep alone in his bed was utterly irrelevant

to the offenses and the aggravators and was likely to incite the jury to decide

the case based on an emotional response. It was misconduct to elicit this

testimony and then to rely on it in closing argument.

C. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct by

Diminishing the Burden of Proof Beyond a

Reasonable Doubt.

The presumption of innocence and the corresponding burden of

proof beyond a reasonable doubt is the "bedrock upon which [our] criminal

justice system stands." State v. Bennett 161 Wn.2d 303, 315, 165 P.3d 1241

2007). To mislead the jury regarding these fundamental principles

constitutes great prejudice because it reduces the State's burden and

undermines a defendant's due process rights. State v. Johnson 158 Wn.

App. 677, 685 -86, 243 P.3d 936, 940 (2010) (citing Bennett 161 Wn.2d at

315), rev. denied, 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011).

It is well - established that prosecutors may not trivialize the jury's

role or the burden of proof. Johnson 158 Wn. App. at 684. Specifically,

courts have condemned arguments that focus the jury's attention "on the
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degree of certainty the jurors would have to have to be willing to act,

rather than that which would cause them to hesitate to act." Id.

In Johnson the prosecutor argued, "In order to find the defendant

not guilty, you have to say, Ì doubt the defendant is guilty and my reason

is I believed his testimony that he just borrowed that ... sweatshirt ... and

he didn't know that the cocaine was in there, and he didn't know what

cocaine was. "' Id. at 682. The prosecutor continued, "To be able to find

reason to doubt, you have to fill in the blank." Id.

The court held this so- called "fill in the blank" argument was

unquestionably improper because it " subverted the presumption of

innocence." Id. at 684 (discussing State v. Anderson 153 Wn. App. 417,

431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009)). It did so by implying "that the jury had an

initial affirmative duty to convict and that the defendant bore the burden of

providing a reason for the jury not to convict him." Johnson 158 Wn. App.

at 684. The "fill in the blank" argument "trivializes" the jury's role in

assessing the State's case by focusing on the certainty required to convict

rather than the reasons for doubt. Id.

The prosecutor's argument in this case also trivialized the jury's role.

The theme of his closing argument was that, if the State's version of events

made sense, Fitzgerald must be guilty. 2RP 310 -11, 322, 341 -42, 347; CP

94, 99. The prosecutor first argued circumstantial evidence instruction
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means the jury can use common sense. 2RP 310; CP 99. While this alone

might be unobjectionable, the prosecutor did not stop there. Instead he

compared the jury's role to making everyday decisions:

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