No. 43987-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

JASON FITZGERALD,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Gary R. Tabor, Judge Cause No. 12-1-00443-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

¹ Unless otherwise noted, all references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are to the two-volume trial transcript dated September 19 and 20, 2012.

one of the three people removed from the pickup after it was stopped. RP 127, 193-94. The other two individuals in the vehicle were identified by the victim as the men he saw removing his property and fleeing the scene. RP 128-29.

Fitzgerald was charged as either a principal or an accomplice in all three of the charges. CP 17-18. The jury was instructed on accomplice liability. Instructions No. 8, 9, 17, 21; CP 25-29. In closing argument, the prosecutor was endeavoring to explain how accomplice liability works. Near the beginning of his argument, he said:

[H]ere's the three individuals that you have, and I thought about this case and how do I convey to you as a jury how these people are connected.

Well, I'm going to talk a little bit more about it, but I came up with the only thing I could really think of, which is kind of something my mom used to say when I was younger, birds of a feather flock together, and she usually meant that to mean choose your friends wisely, because the people you hang out with usually have common interests, and if those interests aren't good, you're going to be involved in those. So I want you to have that kind of mind set about these three individuals.

RP 304. There was no objection.

The prosecutor went on to explain that it isn't necessary to prove which accomplice did any specific act. RP 305. The victim did not see any individual carrying any property, but a large amount of his missing property was found in the suspects' vehicle. RP 318-19. Jason Fitzgerald was the only connection between the other two defendants and the victim. RP 107-08, 129-30, 319. The prosecutor discussed how Fitzgerald could have been in the pickup at the time it was stopped yet not have been part of the burglary, and concluded none of the possibilities made any sense. RP 321-22

During his own closing argument, Fitzgerald's counsel discussed the "birds of a feather" analogy. He seems to have understood the prosecutor to be arguing that Fitzgerald was acting together with the other two, not that Fitzgerald was guilty solely because he associated with the others. RP 332, 337-38.

Perhaps it's natural for the police and prosecutors to think that if somebody is together with a couple of bad birds, he must be a bad bird, too. That's natural. We expect the police to prevent crime. I don't think anybody would want the cops to stand there and wait for a crime to occur before they did anything about it. It's natural for the police to think this way. He was with him. He must have been with them. He must have known what was going on. He must have helped.

RP 338-39 (emphasis added).

Fitzgerald cites to cases from outside Washington which disapprove the prosecution's use of the "birds of a feather" analogy.

In United States v. Smith, 806 F.2d 971 (10th Cir. 1986), the court found error based on the fact that the government's case in chief relied on co-conspirators who had pled guilty and who testified at trial. The prosecutor did not use the "birds of a feather" analogy; those were the words of the court. Id. at 975. The prosecutor said, among other things, "you don't find swans in sewers," and that drug dealers "are his very type." Id. at 974. That is not the argument the prosecutor in Fitzgerald's case was making. He was arguing that because Fitzgerald was found with the other two offenders moments after the burglary was committed, in the vehicle containing large amounts of stolen property, and under the circumstances of the burglary his complicity could be inferred. Perhaps the "birds of a feather" language was not a good choice, but he was not attempting to convince the jury that merely because Fitzgerald hung out with criminal types he must be guilty of the crime. Here the codefendants did not testify, and the State was relying on circumstantial evidence to prove accomplice liability.

Fitzgerald further cites to <u>United States v. Sturgis</u>, 578 F.2d 1296 (9th Cir. 1978). In that opinion, the specific words of the prosecutor's argument are not included, but the court did "strongly condemn" the argument that "birds of a feather flock together." <u>Id</u>.

at 1299. However, the court found it to be harmless error because there was considerable evidence that the defendant had participated in both a robbery and the conspiracy to commit robbery, and the jury was properly instructed about attorney arguments. <u>Id</u>. at 1299-1300. In Fitzgerald's case, the jury was instructed that the arguments of the lawyers were not evidence, were only to explain the evidence, and it was to disregard any remarks not supported by the evidence or the instructions. Instruction No.1, CP 21-22. There was considerable evidence that he was not only present at the scene of the burglary, but it is a logical inference that he was at a minimum assisting in the theft of the property. If the very words "birds of a feather flock together" are error, then they were in this case harmless error.

An error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." <u>State v. Smith</u>, 106 W.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (quoting <u>State v. Cunningham</u>, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)).

Fitzgerald cites to <u>People v. Ong</u>, 94 III. App. 3d 780, 419 N.E.2d 97 (1981), where the court disapproved any language that implies guilt by association. There the prosecutor uses phrases

such as "common drinking buddies," "peas in a pod," and "birds of a feather flock together." <u>Id</u>. at 790. Nevertheless, the court found that the remarks by themselves were not reversible error. The court reversed because these remarks were combined with an attempt to equate presence at the scene with accountability. <u>Id</u>.

Finally, Fitzgerald cites to <u>State v. Harrington</u>, 27 Ariz. App. 663, 558 P.2d 28 (1976). In that case, the prosecutor used the phrase "birds of a feather flock together" as an attack on the defendant's character and reputation. <u>Id</u>. at 666. The court said that under other circumstances, the remark might have been harmless error, but in that case there was substantial evidence of self defense and the court had admonished the prosecutor not to address that issue. <u>Id</u>. at 667. In Fitzgerald's case, the prosecutor was not attacking his character or reputation, but arguing that he would not have been where he was and with those people had he not been part of the crime.

Fitzgerald further argues that it was misconduct for the prosecutor to display a PowerPoint² slide depicting individual photographs of Fitzgerald and the other two offenders with the words "birds of a feather flock together" beneath them. Appellant's

² PowerPoint is a registered trademark of the Microsoft Company.

Opening Brief at 10-11, CP 67.³ He relies on <u>In re Pers. Restraint</u> of <u>Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012), for his argument that this slide introduced unadmitted evidence. It is important, then, to examine exactly what the <u>Glasmann</u> court found improper about the State's argument and what it did not disapprove. It started with the presumption that Glasmann had waived any error unless there was misconduct so "flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704.

It is error to show to the jury evidence not admitted at trial and is reversible error if there is reason to believe the defendant was prejudiced. <u>Id</u>. In closing argument, the prosecutor in <u>Glasmann</u> used a PowerPoint slide presentation in which he incorporated video from security cameras, audio recordings, photographs of the victim's injuries, and Glasmann's booking photograph, which had been admitted into evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 700. The photograph showed "extensive facial bruising." <u>Id</u>. at 700. It was "digitally altered to look more like a wanted poster than properly admitted evidence." <u>Id</u>. at 715, J. Chambers concurring.

³ Fitzgerald mentions in passing that the men all had their hands behind their backs, apparently in handcuffs. Appellant's Opening Brief at 11. That isn't particularly obvious from the photographs, but defense counsel brought it to their attention in cross examination of Deputy Cole. RP 209.

Five slides used during the prosecutor's closing showed the booking photograph; one included the caption "DO YOU BELIEVE HIM?", one was captioned "WHY SHOULD YOU BELIEVE ANYTHING HE SAYS ABOUT THE ASSAULT?", and three showed the word "GUILTY" superimposed across it, an additional "GUILTY" on each successive slide. <u>Id</u>. at 701-02.

One of the slides showed a photograph, presumably taken from the security video, of Glasmann holding the victim in a choke hold while crouched behind the counter of a minimart, with the captions "YOU JUST BROKE OUR LOVE". Another showed the victim's injuries with two captions: "What was happening right before the defendant drove over Angel . . . ", and ". . . you were beating the crap out of me!" <u>Id</u>.

The <u>Glasmann</u> court found that the photograph, with the additional captions, constituted the prosecutor's individual opinion that the defendant was guilty, <u>Id</u>. at 706-07, although it is not clear from the court's opinion why it is an individual opinion as opposed to the opinion of the State, which the prosecutor represented. The court found this to be misconduct. It discussed at some length the "prejudicial imagery" which is considered to be of such an impact that an instruction cannot overcome it. <u>Id</u>. The court concluded

that the "multiple ways in which the prosecutor attempted to improperly sway the jury and the powerful visual medium he employed," combined with his closing argument, created such prejudice that a curative instruction would have been pointless. <u>Id</u>. at 708. The prosecutor argued that the evidence overwhelmingly supported the charges filed, but also told the jury that to reach a verdict it must decide "Did the defendant tell the truth when he testified?" and that they had a duty to compare the testimony of the State's witnesses to that of the defendant. <u>Id</u>. at 710.

Glasmann was challenging only the degree of the offenses for which he was being tried, not his culpability. "Because Glasmann defended by asserting he was guilty only of lesser offenses, and nuanced distinctions often separate degrees of a crime, there is an especially serious danger that the nature and scope of the misconduct here may have affected the jury." <u>Id</u>. at 680. In its summary of the holding, the court said:

The prosecutor's presentation of a slide show including alterations of Glasmann's booking photograph by addition of highly inflammatory and prejudicial captions constituted flagrant and ill intentioned misconduct that requires reversal of his convictions and a new trial, notwithstanding his failure to object at trial. *Considering the entire record and circumstances of this case*, there is a substantial likelihood that this misconduct affected the jury

verdict. The principal disputed matter at trial was whether Glasmann was guilty of lesser offenses rather than those charged, and this largely turned on whether the requisite mental element was established for each offense. More fundamentally, the jury was required to conclude that the evidence established Glasmann's guilt of each offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

It is substantially likely that the jury's verdict were (sic) affected by the prosecutor's improper declarations that the defendant was "GUILTY, GUILTY, GUILTY!", *together with* the prosecutor's challenges to Glasmann's veracity improperly expressed as superimposed messages over the defendant's bloodied face in a jail booking photograph.

Glassman, 175 Wn.2d at 714, emphasis added.

When viewed as a whole, the prosecutor's repeated assertions of the defendant's guilt, improperly modified exhibits, and statement that the jurors could acquit Glasmann only if they believed him represent the type or pronounced and persistent misconduct that *cumulatively* causes prejudice demanding that a defendant be granted a new trial.

Id. at 710, emphasis added.

The court in <u>Glasmann</u> did not reject the use of computergenerated visual aids during argument. "Certainly, lawyers may and should use technology to advance advocacy and judges should permit and even encourage new techniques. But we must all remember that the only purpose of visual aids of any kind is to enhance and assist the jury's understanding of the evidence." <u>Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d at 715, J. Chambers concurring.

Glasmann does not stand for the proposition that any time a caption is added to a photo that was admitted into evidence it becomes altered evidence. "... here the prosecutor's modification of photographs by adding captions was the equivalent of unadmitted evidence." Id. at 706, emphasis added. In Fitzgerald's case, the photographs of the three offenders had been admitted as exhibits. The caption below the three pictures in the slide, CP 67, does not even touch the photographs, and thus they cannot be "altered" by the caption. Nor did the <u>Glassman</u> court say that every instance of a caption is going to amount to altered evidence. It was dealing with the facts before it, and each case will present different facts. The "birds of a feather" caption referred to the fact that the three men had been together when the crime was committed, a fact not in dispute. The argument that they were together committing a crime is not improper because it was based upon the evidence. Fitzgerald mischaracterizes the State's argument when he maintains that the purpose was to paint Fitzgerald with the same brush as the others, hoping to divert attention from the fact that no witnesses saw him at the scene of

the burglary. The argument actually was that if Fitzgerald was with the two identified burglars in the suspect vehicle, which contained stolen property, a short distance from the scene of the crime and a short time afterward, it was evidence that he was part of the crime, i.e., flocking together.

The challenged argument, including the slide, was not improper. Certainly it was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that a curative instruction would have been useless. Fitzgerald could have objected and asked the court to instruct the jury to disregard. A jury is presumed to follow instructions. <u>State v. Grisby</u>, 97 Wn.2d 493, 499, 647 P.2d 6 (1982).

b. Argument of the traumatized child victim.

Count two of the third amended information, the information on which he was tried, charged Fitzgerald with attempted residential burglary and included an allegation that the victim of the burglary was present at the time of the crime. CP 17, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(u). The testimony was that Levi Thompson, Amanda Easterday, and Easterday's six-year-old son were in the residence when the child ran into the adults' bedroom yelling that a man with a crowbar was at his bedroom window. RP 99-100, 110-11. In answer to a question from the prosecutor, Thompson explained that

the incident has a lasting impact on the child—he no longer liked to go to bed and asked to sleep in the adults' bedroom. RP 118. There was no objection. When the prosecutor asked a similar question of Easterday, Fitzgerald objected, a sidebar was held, and the court sustained the objection. RP 169. At a time when the jury was not present, the court made a record of the sidebar, indicating that the prosecutor had understood the impact on the victim was relevant to the aggravating circumstance; the defense maintained the statute only required that people be present, not necessarily upset. RP 226. During closing argument, the prosecutor made one reference to the child. "As you heard, [the boy]⁴ has been traumatized by these events."

A prosecutor is entitled to refer to evidence that has been admitted. The testimony of Thompson was not objected to. No other testimony on the subject was admitted. There was one sentence in the closing argument that can scarcely be characterized as "urging" the jury to convict based on the trauma to the child. Even if the evidence was irrelevant, the likelihood of the jury being prejudiced is, considering the totality of the circumstances, nonexistent. At worst, it was harmless error.

⁴ Because he is a minor, the State is not using the child's name.

c. Diminishing the burden of proof.

Fitzgerald claims that the prosecutor's closing argument trivialized the State's burden of proof. He cites to cases which disapproved things that this prosecutor did not do, such as use a "fill in the blank" argument. Appellant's Opening Brief at 15. He

The State does not dispute that it is improper argument to misstate the law or to minimize the burden of proof. However, Fitzgerald again mischaracterizes the prosecutor's arguments when he claims that the prosecutor did both. He quotes the following remarks:

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